Structural Performance of An Limestone Calcined Clay Cement (LC³)

Concrete



Submitted by

Khawar Tufail

MS Structural Engineering (Fall 2018)

00000275934

Supervisor

Dr. Hammad Anis Khan

NUST Institute of Civil Engineering (NICE) School of Civil and Environmental Engineering (SCEE), National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Islamabad Aug 2022

Structural Performance of An Limestone Calcined Clay Cement (LC³) Concrete

Submitted By

Khawar Tufail

00000275934

A thesis submitted to the NUST Institute of Civil Engineering in partial fulfillment of the

Requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING

Thesis Supervisor:

Dr. Hammad Anis Khan

Thesis Supervisor's Signature

Department of Structural Engineering NUST Institute of Civil Engineering (NICE), School of Civil and Environmental Engineering (SCEE), National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Islamabad, Pakistan (Aug 2022)

i

Structural Performance of An Limestone Calcined Clay Cement (LC³) Concrete

By

Khawar Tufail

This is to certify that we have examined the above MS thesis and found that it is complete and satisfactory in all respects.

Dr. Hammad Anis Khan

Assistant Professor

Dr. Fawad Ahmed Najam

Assistant Professor

Dr. Azam Khan

Assistant Professor

Dr. Junaid Ahmad

Assistant Professor

Thesis Acceptance Certificate

I certify that final copy of MS thesis written by Mr. Khawar Tufail (Registration No.00000275934) of NICE (SCEE) has been verified by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statutes/Regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS degree.

Signature:
Supervisor: Dr. H ammad Anis Khan
Date:
Signature (HOD):
Date:
Signature (Dean/Principal):
Date:

Declaration

I certify that this research work titled "*Structural Performance of An Limestone Calcined Clay Cement* (*LC3*) *Concrete*" is my own work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The material that has been used from other sources it has been properly acknowledged / referred.

Signature of Student

Khawar Tufail

00000275934

Copyright Statement

- Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the student author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the author and lodged in the Library of NUST School of Civil & Environmental Engineering (SCEE). Details may be obtained by the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the author.
- The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in NUST School of Civil & Environmental Engineering, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the SCEE, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.
- Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Library of NUST School of Civil & Environmental Engineering, Islamabad.

Acknowledgements

First and most of all, I am Thankful to Allah Almighty, who has bestowed me an honor to accomplish my dream.

I want to express my most sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Hammad Anis Khan for giving me an opportunity of doing my thesis under his supervision. I would like to thank Dr. Junaid Ahmad for his valuable guidance, expertise and assistance throughout my Thesis work. It would not have been possible for me to complete my thesis without his help. I would also like to thank my other committee members Dr. Fawad Ahmed Najam, Dr. Junaid Ahmad and Dr.Azam Khan for their support, suggestions and encouragement. Thanks to Mr. Mubeen Ahmed for sharing knowledge and generous help in kaolinite calculations.

Finally and most importantly, I am in debt to my parents and siblings for their encouragement and unconditional support throughout my thesis. They always prayed for my success and provided every facility during my academic career. I dedicate this thesis to my Parents.

Abstract

This thesis is on a breakthrough technology to reduce CO₂ emissions from cementitious material that is limestone calcined clay cement (LC^3). The use of SCMs to replace the part of clinker in cement is the most successful strategy to reduce CO₂ emissions in global cement industry. The only type of material available in the quantities needed to meet the demand is clay containing kaolinite, which can be calcined to produce an effective SCM. As discussion proceeds workability, hydration and chemistry of LC³ is discussed followed by its durability properties. At the end suggestions for further research.LC³ is family of cement in which clinker content is replaced by calcined clay and lime stone with some proportion of CC : LS (2:1). In this paper kaolinite content of different clays were investigated and more than 40% kaolinitic clay were chosen in replacement of OPC along with Limestone. After that Kaolinite clay were grinded, passed from #200 sieve and heated at a temperature of 850 C⁰ for 1 hour. Hardened properties such as compressive strength, split tensile strength, flexural strength, modulus of elasticity of concrete using Limestone calcined cement were investigated by taking W/B ratio 0.5 constant. The experimental program were deal with mechanical properties of LC³ concrete with the following combination of LC³-30, LC³-50, LC³-65, and LC3-80 along with normal OPC. Based on the experimental results it was noted that replacement less than or equal to 50% with conventional cement we can get the ultimate strength approximately equal to OPC. After that best mechanical properties showing sample were taken into structural level testing like four point bending test along with experimental results FEA were also carried out on same beams having OPC, LC³-50, LC³-65, LC³-80 beams. Load vs deflection, comparison of peak loads ,comparison of ultimate deflection both experimentally and FEA deflection, crack width, number of cracks, minimum spacing of cracks, maximum spacing of cracks, average spacing of crakes these were the testes carried out on each beam and lastly comparison of carbon footprint were also carried out in a form of percentage differnce of CO₂ emmision with respect to normal ordinary portland cement and percentage difference of energy consumed with respect to normal ordinary portland cement (OPC).

Keywords: LC³ (Lime stone calcined clay cement), SCM's (Supplementary cementitious material, Kaolinite clay, FEA(Finite element analysis), CO2 emission, ordinary Portland cement (OPC).

Thesis A	Acceptance	e Certificate	. iii				
Declara	tion		. iv				
Copyrig	,ht Statemen	t	v				
Acknow	vledgemen	ts	6				
Abstrac	t 7						
	Table of	Contents	8				
List of A	Abbreviatio	ons	. 15				
CHAP	FER 1:	INTRODUCTION	. 16				
1.1	Problem	Statement	. 16				
1.2	A possibl	le remedy-SCMs	. 17				
1.3	Objective	28	. 18				
CHAP	FER 2:	LITERATURE REVIEW	. 19				
2.1	Cement		. 19				
2.2	Clay		. 19				
	2.2.1	Clay as supplementary cementitious material	. 20				
	2.2.2	Calcination of clay	. 20				
2.3	Pozzolan	ic Reaction	. 20				
2.4	Limeston	e	. 21				
2.5	Water Co	ontent	. 21				
	2.5.1	Effect of Water/cement Ratio	. 21				
2.6	Curing		. 22				
2.7	Fresh pro	perties of LC ³	. 22				
	2.7.1	Viscosity	. 22				
	2.7.2	Slump	. 23				
	2.7.3	Adhesion and Cohesion	. 23				
2.8	Mechanical Properties of LC3						
	2.8.1	Compressive Strength	. 23				

Table of Contents

	2.8.2	Flexure Strength	24
2.9	Hydratio	on of LC3	24
	2.9.1	Phase Assemblage	24
	2.9.2	Alite and Belite Hydration	25
	2.9.3	Reaction Kinetics	25
	2.9.4	Strength Development	25
2.10	Microst	ructure Of LC3	26
	2.10.1	Pore Size Distribution	26
	2.10.2	Production of calcium hydroxide with time	27
	2.10.3	Degree Of hydration	27
	2.10.4	Relationship Between porosity and degree of hydration	27
СНАР	TER 3:	MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY	29
3.1	Materia	ls	29
	3.1.1	Coarse aggregate	29
	3.1.2	Fine Aggregate	31
	3.1.3	Cementitious Materials	33
	3.1.4	Mix Design	38
	3.1.5	Trial Mix	39
	3.1.6	Casting and Curing	40
СНАР	TER 4:	EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE	41
4.1	Fresh C	oncrete	41
	4.1.1	Workability	41
	4.1.2	Fresh Concrete Density	42
4.2	Mechan	ical Properties	43
	4.2.1	Hardened Concrete Density	43
	4.2.2	Compression Test	43

	4.2.3	Split Tensile Test	44
	4.2.4	Flexure Test	46
	4.2.5. St	ress-Strain curve and modulous of elasticity of concrete	46
	4.2.6. Be	eams details with materials properties	47
4.3. Ex	xperimenta	al details with test setup	50
4.4. FA	AE ANAL	YSIS	52
СНАР	TER 5:	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	53
5.1	Global V	Warming	53
	5.1.1	Substitute	53
5.2	Clay Sel	ection	54
	5.2.1	Kaolonite content	54
	5.2.2	Calcination	55
5.3	Mechan	ical Properties of Concrete	57
	5.3.1	Compressive Strength	57
	5.3.2	Split tensile Strength	60
	5.3.3	Flexural Strength	62
	5.3.4	Toughness	66
5.4	Conclus	ion	68
5.5	Results a	and discussions	70
5.6	Load-De	eflection Relationship	70
	5.6.1	OPC Beam	70
	5.6.2	LC ³ -50	71
	5.6.3	LC ³ -65	71
	5.6.4	LC ³ -80	71
5.7	FAE An	alysis	72
5.8	Compar	ison of peak loads	74
5.9	Compar	ison of ultimate deflections	75

REFE	RENCES	
5.16.	Recommendations	
5.15.	Industrial Feasibility and Future Iinvestment	
5.14	Conclusions	
5.13	Carbon foot print and energy consumptions	80
5.12	Result of ductility index, stiffness index and modulus of elasticity	
5.11	Results of cracks and spacing	
5.10	Comparison of crack width at peak loads	76

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Properties of Coarse Aggregate
Table 3.2 Sieve Analysis of coarse Aggregate ASTM C136 30
Table 3.3 Fineness Modulus of Sand ASTM C136 32
Table 3.4 Properties of Fine Aggregate ASTM C128 33
Table 3.5 Specific Gravity of Cement and Calcined Clay ASTM C 188
Table 3.6 Properties of Cement and Calcined Clay
Table 4.1 Calculation of materials for RCC Beams 49
Table 4.2 Reinforcement Details 49
Table 5.1 Kaolonite determination procedure 55
Table 5.2 Compressive strength at different days 58
Table 5.3 Split tensile test results at 28 days 61
Table 5.4 Flexural strength at 28 days
Table 5.5 Toughness index
Table 5.6 Structural Failure Mode
Table 5.7 Comparison of EXP & FAE Deflectons 72
Table 5.8 Results of cracks and spacing

List of Figures

Figure 3.1 Coarse Aggregate
Figure 3.2 Particle Size Distribution of coarse Aggregate ASTM C136
Figure 3.3 Sand
Figure 3.4 Calcined Clay
Figure 3.5 Cement
Figure 3.6 Methodology
Figure 4.1 Control Mix Slump
Figure 4.2 Mix Slump
Figure 4.3 Fresh Concrete Density
Figure 4.4 Specimen placement in UTM for Compression Test
Figure 4.5 Universal Testing Machine
Figure 4.6 Assembly for Split Tensile Test
Figure 4.7 Flexural test of Beam
Figure 4.8 Casting of RCC Beams
Figure 4.9 Beam test setup (all dimensions are in mm,15mm cover provided to reinforcement)
Figure 4.10 Experimental setup of RCC Beams
Figure 4.11 Microscope to fined out crack width
Figure 4.12 Abaquas modeling sketch
Figure 5.1 Calcination of clay
Figure 5.2 Limestone output
Figure 5.3 Clay output
Figure 5.4 Bar graph of compressive strength at different days
Figure 5.5 Bar graph of split tensile results

Figure 5.6 Bar graph of Flexural strengths
Figure 5.7 Stress-Strain curves
Figure 5.8 Bar graph of Toughness index
Figure 5.9 Experimental curves of RCC Beams
Figure 5.10 FEA Curves of all RCC Beams74
Figure 5.11 Comparison of Peak loads75
Figure 5.12 Comparison of ultimate deflections
Figure 5.13 Graph of Crack width at Peak loads77
Figure 5.14 Percenatage difference of C02 emisssions w.r.t cement
Figure 5.15 Percentage difference of energy consumed w.r.t cement

List of Abbreviations

ASTM	American Society of Testing and Materials
fc'	Compressive Strength
SCM	Supplementary Cementitious Materials
LC ³	Limestone Calcined Clay Cement
OPC	Ordinary Portland Cement
XRF	X-ray fluorescence
XRD	X-ray diffraction
TGA	Thermogravimetric Analysis
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscope
EDX	Energy Dispersive X-Ray
FEA	Finite Element Analysis

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Problem Statement

Climate change is one of the most pressing issues confronting humanity today. This climate change involves global warming induced by greenhouse gases (most notably carbon dioxide) emitted by human-made sources, which has resulted in weather pattern shifts. This shift in the weather pattern has disrupted life on the only life-bearing planet Earth, and it must be addressed right away. According to current estimates, the cement sector contributes roughly 5% of global man-made CO2 emissions, making it one of the world's two largest polluters.

There is expected to be a rise in cement consumption as the population grows. There is a trend in the rise of industries for rising and emerging economies like China, India, Pakistan, Brazil, Mexico, Russia, South Africa, and Chile, and so these are hot areas for future mass infrastructure growth. Cement demand will rise because of this economic expansion, which will be fueled by increased personal income, GDP, and infrastructure spending. By 2023, demand will have increased by 1% each year to 4.1 billion metric tons. As a result, those countries may have a significant challenge in meeting the increased demand for cement. Given the present increase in cement demand, traditional Portland cements with a greater clinker-to-cement ratio will not be able to meet these requirements. As a result, solutions must be found that are cost-effective, long-term, environmentally benign, and align with global concerns about reducing carbon dioxide emissions.

1.2 A possible remedy-SCMs

The use of supplementary cementitious materials as a CO2 reduction solution is not new, but it has been thoroughly researched. There are a range of supplemental cementitious materials with varied pozzolanic qualities on the market, but they are not a practical alternative for mass production due to their varying availability around the world, and the product can be even more expensive than ordinary OPC. Furthermore, there is a limit to how useful their incorporation is in the cement system. Geopolymers, in addition to SCMs, are being examined as an alternative. However, their application is expected to be on a medium to large scale.

Limestone calcined clay cements (LC3) are yet another low-carbon cement option that has been developed for mass manufacture. Limestone calcined clay cement (also known as LC3) is a new technology in the cement business that addresses the demand for a sustainable, cost-effective, and low-carbon cement system that can be employed on a large scale.

This thesis looks at the introduction of LC3 technology in Pakistan, its viability in the local building industry, and the best mix design that delivers OPC-like strength and study its mechanical properties as compared to OPC. LC3 isn't just one type of cement; it's a family of cements made up of ingredients with varying substitute-toclinker ratios. As the name implies, it uses high-temperature calcined clay as an additional cementitious ingredient. Because of the combination of limestone and calcined clay, LC3 is compatible with OPC while minimizing CO2 emissions and thereby conserving natural resources. Clay and limestone are already utilized as SCMs, but the breakthrough is in combining these two readily available materials without compromising cement strength or other mechanical qualities.

1.3 Objectives

The main objectives of this research are the comparison of the following behaviors' of LC3 concrete blends to OPC:

- Load Controlled stress-strain behavior
- Compressive strength
- Split tensile strength
- Toughness
- Mineralogical properties
- Flexural strength
- Four point bending test on beams
- FEA (Finite Element Analysis) on each beam

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Cement

Cement, also known as binder, is a widely used building substance that binds other materials by setting, hardening, and sticking to them. After water, it is the world's second most consumed resource.

Portland cement is a common form of cement used all over the world. In a rotating kiln, clay and limestone are heated together at 1,500°C. The resulting hard product, known as clinker, is then mixed into a powder with a small amount of gypsum to create OPC (Ordinary Portland cement). Portland cement is used to make concrete, mortar, and most non-specialty grouts. Portland cement is most used in the production of concrete, which is a composite material made up of aggregate, cement, and water.

Because clinker is responsible for 60% of CO2 emissions, reducing the amount of clinker used and substituting it with a supplemental cementitious material will considerably reduce the amount of CO2 emitted, lowering the environmental effect.[1]

One of the most successful and effective strategies for reducing CO2 emissions in the worldwide cement industry is to include supplemental cementitious materials (SCMs) in the binder system.[2]

2.2 Clay

Throughout history, clays have been widely employed as pozzolanic materials. Despite the presence of many other competing resources, such as industrial wastes, clays remain a viable alternative as a supplemental cementitious ingredient.

2.2.1 Clay as supplementary cementitious material

The use of metakaolin-rich clay to replace clinker, resulting in a lower clinker/cement ratio, is thought to be an efficient technique to reduce CO2 emissions.[3] One of the main advantages of employing calcined clay for this purpose is that it does not reduce the binder's compressive strength; in fact, substitutions of up to 45 percent produce superior mechanical results than conventional Portland cement.[4]

2.2.2 Calcination of clay

Clay must be calcined in order for its pozzolanic properties to be activated. Calcination is the process of heating clay in the presence of oxygen. It causes dihydroxylation of clay minerals, which increases the compressive strength of the clay. If the calcination temperature is carefully managed, the performance of the clay can be improved to that of normal OPC. In the instance of kaolin, calcination at 550C results in a compressive strength of 113 percent of OPC.[5] This temperature can reach 950 degrees Celsius. As a result, a calcination temperature of 550 C is commonly employed for cost-effectiveness.

2.3 Pozzolanic Reaction

The sum of SiO2 + AI2O3 + Fe2O3 should be larger than 70%, according to ASTM C-618 (ASTM C618-91, 2019), and clays have a sufficient percentage of this sum (Changling Hea, 1995). Thermal activation of clay (around 600 oC-900 oC) causes the structure of clay to break down due to dehydroxylation, resulting in the formation of a new phase with higher reactivity. In kaolinite clays, this phase includes metakaolin (AI2O3.2 SiO2) or AS2. The fundamental pozzolanic reaction consists of the following steps:

CH + metakaolin (AI2O3.2 SiO2) + H
$$\rightarrow$$
 C-S-H + C-A-H[6]

CSH gel, as well as other crystalline products such as calcium aluminate hydrates and alumino-silicate hydrates, are formed as a result. The temperature of the reaction and the ratio of metakaolin to CH determine the crystalline products.[7]

2.4 Limestone

The addition of limestone to the LC3 blend improves the rheological qualities of the concrete by lowering the flow resistance.[8]

In comparison to pure cement concrete, limestone cement concretes have a poorer resilience to freezing and thawing. The best protection against rebar corrosion is found in Portland limestone cement, which contains 20% limestone. Carbonation depth (the average distance from the surface of concrete or mortar where carbon dioxide has reduced the alkalinity of the hydrated cement) and overall porosity of the mortar are both reduced by the limestone additions.[9]

2.5 Water Content

To manufacture the cement paste, you'll need water. The amount of water required can have a significant impact on the LC3 blend's mechanical qualities.

2.5.1 Effect of Water/cement Ratio

Increases in the w/b ratio increase porosity, lowering the compressive strength value. A decrease in the w/c ratio, on the other hand, increases compressive strength while decreasing workability. The fracture behaviour of a mortar with a low w/c ratio is similarly more brittle than that of a mortar with a high w/c ratio, according to a report.[10]

The compressive strength of concrete varies inversely with the water/cement ratio, according to Abrams' generalisation law. The interfacial transition zone between concrete paste and aggregate, which determines the strength of concrete, is affected by the water–cement ratio (W/C). The increased water requirement caused by the high fineness (induced by the sheet-like structure) and narrow particle size distribution is one of the concerns with the use of calcined clays.

2.6 Curing

Curing is critical for cement mortar and concrete specimens, since it affects their strength and longevity. The effect of curing temperature ranging from 20 to 30 degrees Celsius on the characteristics of LC3 has already been investigated. The hydration of clinker and the pozzolanic process are aided by increasing temperature, resulting in a rise in LC3 strength development at a young age. The samples cured at 30 °C for 28 days have a coarser threshold pore diameter, but this has no effect on the LC3 strength. However, the majority of the earlier studies were carried out at a lower temperature (20 °C) than the average operating temperature in tropical nations.[11]

2.7 Fresh properties of LC³

2.7.1 Viscosity

The metakaolin content is a crucial determinant of the LC3 system's fresh properties as well as strength development.[12] The main reason for this is that MK (metakaolin) is a water-absorbing substance that raises the system's viscosity [13]. To balance the inherent static charges present on the surface of clay, clays have a tendency to exchange cations with other additional material. As a result, when admixtures are injected, the clay particles quickly exchange cations with the organic matter already present in the admixture. As a result, there is less dispersion and thus less absorption of the admixture on the surface, necessitating a higher admixture dosage. This larger dose may result in a cost rise, a setting time increment, and a strength development delay.[14]

2.7.2 Slump

The water content, super plasticizer employed, and, most importantly, the metakaolin content in the mix all affect the slump values of the LC3 system. The morphology of the metakaolin in the mix determines the slump values. The slump increases as the particle shape becomes more spherical and less rough. The slump is shown to lessen as the surface roughness increases.[15]

2.7.3 Adhesion and Cohesion

The combined impact of limestone and calcined clay results in a cohesiveness enhancement (the ability to stick with the same substance). The cohesion of the mix increases as the SCM content increases, but the addition of limestone diminishes the mix's cohesion. The mix's adhesion (ability to attach to other surfaces) improves as the amount of calcined clay increases.[16]

2.8 Mechanical Properties of LC3

2.8.1 Compressive Strength

Compression testing with a compression testing machine is commonly used to determine a specimen's compressive strength. The specimen with the greatest amount of clinker has the greatest compressive strength in the LC3 system. The compressive strength of clinker increases as the amount of clinker increases.[17]

2.8.2 Flexure Strength

On days 7 and 28, the flexural strength of the LC3 specimen is greater than that of the OPC. It shows that adding calcined clay increases the ductility of the mixture. The calcium hydroxide of the hydration product and calcium alumina silicate hydrates C-A-S-H are generated during the pozzolanic activity of clay. The flexural strength of C-A-S-H products and crystalline calcium aluminates is increasing due to the increased formation of C-A-S-H products and crystalline calcium aluminates.[18]

2.9 Hydration of LC3

2.9.1 Phase Assemblage

X-ray diffraction can be used to investigate the different stages of hydration of LC3. A peak of hemicarboaluminates is found in the LC3 system after 24 hours of hydration (2 = 10.80)[19]. A slight rise of monocarbonaluminates (2 = 11.70) is detected at 28 and 90 days, but the entire conversion of hemicarboaluminates to monocarbonaluminates is not observed. After 24 hours of hydration, only residues of portlandite are visible. This could be due to the calcined clay in the mix reacting quickly. [26]

EDM/SEM (Scanning Electron Microscopy / Energy Dispersive X-Ray Spectroscopy) is employed to characterize the C-A-S-H gel because it cannot be investigated using XRD due to its amorphous nature. Calcined clay contains alumina, which alters the structure and shape of the calcium silicate hydrate while also incorporating alumina into the gel. [33] Many factors influence alumina uptake, including alkali content, clay grade, and the Ca/Si ratio, among others. At 28 days of hydration, the average C-A-S-H composition is C1.61A0.115SHX, indicating that LC3 has a higher alumina absorption than conventional OPC.[20]

2.9.2 Alite and Belite Hydration

The degree of hydration of alite and belite in the LC3 system is determined using quantitative rietveld analysis. Later phases appear to have a reduced level of hydration. The hydration was found to be 15% lower when compared to OPC. At 90 days, the degree of hydration of belite in a limestone-calcined clay system was determined to be 35%[35]. When calcined clay and limestone are joined in a system, the low hydration becomes more apparent. This is owing to the pore refinement that occurs when calcined clay is present. The hydration steps are slowed as a result of the pore refining. The LC3 system's mercury intrusion test demonstrates that the limiting critical pore diameter is reached in 7 days. There is no drop in pore size after that.[19] [46] [50]

2.9.3 Reaction Kinetics

Isothermal calorimetry is used to investigate the early hydration kinetics. In the calorimetry of the LC3 system, there were two peaks. The first peak represents silicate hydration, while the second peak represents aluminate hydration. Because of its filler character and the existence of additional nucleation sites, calcined clay speeds hydration. As a result, the LC3 system generates the initial hydration peak earlier than the OPC system. In the LC3 system, there is a distinct second peak. The depletion of sulphate occurs about 9.5 hours after the injection of water, near the commencement of this peak. [40] [44] [45]

2.9.4 Strength Development

Within the first 28 days, the LC3 system achieves the majority of its compressive strength. The major factor for the formation of early strength is calcined clay. Between 28 and 90 days, there is very little strength increase. The hydration of

C2S and C3S explains this. Pore refinement is the LC3 system's key limiting factor for hydration and thus strength growth.[21] [42] [43]

2.10 Microstructure Of LC3

Clay is a high-quality substance. When used as a clinker substitute, it has a significant impact on the matrix's microstructure. [41]

2.10.1 Pore Size Distribution

Initially, the porosity values of the calcined clay system with varying clay percentage are 49-50 percent.[22] This value continuously declines until the 28th day of hydration. The porosity remains constant after 28 days. When compared to OPC, calcined clay blends have a total increase of 16 percent in porosity. [39] [40]

There is no significant difference in the first 7 days for capillary pores (5-0.01 m). The difference between the OPC and LC3 systems becomes more noticeable after 14 days. At this point, there has been a 10% rise in capillary porosity. However, the capillary pores of systems with 15-25 percent calcined clay for prolonged periods of hydration show little variation.[23] [38]

The pore size of the mix becomes finer with the addition of calcined clay. At 7 and 90 days, there is a noticeable shift in pore size, indicating the start and conclusion of clay's pozzolanic activity. The pore size shrinks dramatically on the first day of hydration. [37] This decline occurs in normal OPC after 1 to 56 days of hydration. This pore size decrease takes 28 days with a 10% metakaolin system. After 14 days, pore size reduction in mixes containing more than 10% stops. The average pore size of mixes containing 10% or more metakaolin is very similar.[22]

2.10.2 Production of calcium hydroxide with time

It is necessary to know the amount of calcium hydroxide in the mix to determine the degree of hydration of metakaolin. During the early phases of hydration, the amount of calcium hydroxide increases[35]. With the passage of time, this amount decreases. At 56 and 90 days of hydration, this decline is noticeable. [27]

The first increase can be explained by OPC hydration, which diminishes as metakaolin's pozzolanic activity rises. The pozzolanic activity of the clay is demonstrated by the inflexion points at 56 and 90 days. [28]

2.10.3 Degree Of hydration

The degree of hydration of the LC3 system can be determined using a variety of ways.

Because of the entire absence of the pozzolanic reaction inside the system, the degree of hydration is below 100% for up to 14 days[23]. Until now, the whole reaction has taken place between water and clinker particles. [34] This hydration value is above 100% of typical OPC from 14 to 90 days, indicating that the pozzolanic process and cement hydration overlap. After 90 days, the hydration value remains steady, with a little drop for mixes containing more than 20% metakaolin.[24]

For mixes with low metakaolin content, the value of degree of hydration decreases after 90 days. The pozzolanic reaction is now complete. [33]

2.10.4 Relationship Between porosity and degree of hydration

When both porosity and hydration are studied over time, a definite relationship can be established. [31] Total, capillary, and gel pores all had R2 values of 0.71, 0.81, and 0.88, respectively, when correlated with degree of moisture. [32] Gel pores had the best correlation, followed by capillary pores, and finally total pores. This suggests that pore refinement is mostly connected to values of degree of hydration exceeding 100 percent. The rise in hydrated phases during the pozzolanic reaction is the reason for this.[22] [29] [30]

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY

3.1 Materials

The next section discusses the materials utilised in the production of LC^3 blends as well as their characterization, followed by a detailed experimental technique.

3.1.1 Coarse aggregate

Natural coarse aggregates, which were utilized in concrete, are available locally, and the source is in Margalla. The coarse aggregate had a maximum aggregate size of 19 mm. Before casting concrete, all materials were thoroughly cleaned. All of the materials utilised in the concrete casting process were SSD (Surface Saturated Dry). The curvature of the Coarse Aggregate Gradation Curve is similar to a "S," indicating that the aggregates are well graded. Figure 1 depicts the coarse aggregate gradation curve.



Figure 3.1 Coarse Aggregate

Dry Weight	A	3011 g	
Super Saturated Dry Weight	В	3029 g	
Submerged Weight	С	1897 g	
Specific Gravity	A/(B-C)	2.66	<u>ASTM C127</u>
Absorption	(B-A)/A	0.6 %	<u>ASTM C127</u>
Dry Rodded Density		1631 kg/m ³	ASTM C29

Table 3.1 Properties of Coarse Aggregate

Table 3.2 Sieve Analysis of coarse Aggregate ASTM C136

Sieve #	Amount	F	Retained	Amount	Cumulative	Percentage
	(grams)			retained in	Percentage	Passing (%)
	Trial 1	Trial 2	Trail 3	Percentag	(%)	
				e (%)		
1 in	6	7	11	0.41	0.41	99.59
³ ⁄4 in	10	4	13	0.46	0.87	99.13
1⁄2 in	1451	1445	1457	74.52	75.39	24.61
3/8 in	475	480	470	24.4	99.79	0.21
Pan	3	4	5	0.21	100	0



Figure 3.2 Particle Size Distribution of coarse Aggregate ASTM C136

3.1.2 Fine Aggregate

Concrete sand is readily available in the area. Lawrence Pur is where the sand comes from. We selected sand that was smaller than 4.75 mm in size. The sand was sieved before being used in concrete casting. The sieve used for sieving was the No. 4 Sieve. Sand fineness modulus was in the middle of the range indicated by ASTM Standard.



Figure 3.3 Sand

Sieve	Amour	nt	Retained	Amount	Cumulative	Percentage
#	(grams)		retained in	Percentage	Passing	
	Trail	Trail	Trail 3	Percentage	(%)	(%)
	1	2		(%)		
#4	32.1	28.5	30.3	5.05	5.05	94.95
#8	52.4	54.8	53.6	8.93	13.98	86.02
#16	68.2	60.08	54.1	10.68	24.66	75.34
#30	207.9	212.7	210.3	35.05	59.71	40.29
#50	104	103.2	103.6	17.27	76.98	23.02
#100	88	97	92.5	15.42	92.4	7.06
#200	38	42	40	6.67	99.07	0.93
Pan	5.7	5.5	5.6	0.93	100	0
Fineness modulus (FM)				2.73		

	Table 3.3	Fineness	Modulus	of Sand A	ASTM C136
--	-----------	-----------------	----------------	-----------	-----------

Mass of Flask	W1	12	12	12
Mass of Flask + Dry Sand	W2	61.5	63	60
Mass of Flask + Dry Sand + Water	W3	73	74	71
Mass of Flask + Water	W4	42	42	42
К		1	1	1
Specific Gravity	S.G	2.68	2.68	2.53
Average Specific Gravity	2.63			
Moisture Content	0.9 %	<u>ASTM C56</u>	<u>6</u>	

Table 3.4 Properties of Fine Aggregate ASTM C128

3.1.3 Cementitious Materials

Ordinary Portland Cement (OPC Type I) was utilised in the production of concrete and is still widely used today. Fauji Cement Company Limited is the cement's maker. Fauji cement is commonly utilised in Pakistani construction.

Clay which i used in replacement of ordinary portland cement was the clay having kaolinite content were 79% because literature and past studies says clay used in LC3 composition should have kaolinite content more than 40% in order to achieve performance similar to OPC. Calcined clay was used in place of cement in concrete. Calcined clay is made from naturally occurring white china clay. Clay was found in the neighbourhood. The colour is grey white.

Calcined clay initially this clay was in the form of larger form of aggregates so in order to convert these boulders type aggregates into clay having size equal to cement firstly these boulders were decomposed into samll pieces after that two to three times grinding process were carried out in different machines and with the help of labours as well.After grinding process this clay has to pass different sieves so that all impurities should be removed before final passing of sieve number #200.

After clay prepartion this clay than put into different boxes in order to calcined at 850° in firnace.



Figure 3.4 Calcined Clay


Figure 3.5 Cement

Table 3.5 Specific Gra	wity of Cement an	d Calcined Clay	ASTM C 188
------------------------	-------------------	-----------------	-------------------

No.	Cement	Calcined clay
Weight of sample	64 g	64 g
Initial reading	0.42 ml	0.41 ml
Final reading	20.76 ml	24.1 ml
Total volume displaced	20.34 ml	23.69
Density (g/ml)	3.147	2.702
Water density (At 4° C)	1 g/ml	1 g/ml
Specific Gravity	3.147	2.702

No.	Cement	Calcined clay
Colour	Grey	White
Fineness	95 % <u>ASTM C184</u>	Total passed by No. 200 sieve

Table 3.6 Properties of Cement and Calcined Clay

Methodology

The study's major goal is to replace cement with recycled concrete aggregate as coarse aggregate, fly ash, and glass powder. Concrete tests were performed to accomplish the study's objectives of fresh concrete qualities, mechanical properties, and durability attributes. To begin, several aggregate tests were conducted for the concrete mix design. Specific gravity, fineness modulus, moisture content, absorption, and oven dry rodded density were all determined during these testing. All of the tests were conducted in accordance with ASTM standards.



Figure 3.6 Methodology

3.1.4 Mix Design

After performing test on aggregate and getting values, we made mix design according to standard ACI (American Concrete Institute) code for Control Mix (M1). The ACI Standard <u>ACI 211.1-91</u> used for selecting proportions for concrete.

Target Strength

Compressive Strength = 27.58 MPa

Target Slump

75-100 mm

Maximum Aggregate Size

19 mm

Estimation of Mixing Water and Air Content

From Table given in ACI 211.1, weight of water for slump (75-100mm) and

Maximum Aggregate size (19mm) is:

Weight of water = 205 kg/m^3

Air Content (Given in Table) = 1.5%

Selection of Water/Cement Ratio

Water/Cement ratio and Compressive strength relationship table shows that the

w/c for 27.58 MPa is

Water/Cement = 0.54

Calculation of Cement Content

Weight of Cement = Weight of water/ (w/c) = 205/0.54

Weight of Cement $=380 \text{kg/m}^3$

Estimation of Coarse Aggregate content

FM of sand = 2.7

Dry Rodded Volume of Coarse Aggregate =1631 kg/m³

On a Dry Rodded basis, table given in ACI 211.1 indicates that 0.63 m³ of coarse

aggregate used in each cubic meter of concrete. So

Weight of Coarse Aggregate = 0.63 * 1631 = 1028kg

Estimation of Fine Aggregate content

Volume of each material calculated:

Volume of water = $205/1000 = 0.205 \text{ m}^3$

Volume of cement = $380/(3.15 \times 1000) = 0.121 \text{ m}^3$

Volume of coarse aggregate = $1028/(2.66 \times 1000) = 0.386 \text{ m}^3$

Volume of entrapped air = 2% of $1m^3 = 0.02 \times 1.00 = 0.020 \text{ m}^3$

Total volume of Materials except Fine Aggregate

 $= 0.205 + 0.121 + 0.386 + 0.02 = 0.732 \text{ m}^3$

Volume of Fine Aggregate = $1 - 0.732 = 0.0.268 \text{ m}^3$

Weight of Fine Aggregate = $0.268 \times 2.63 \times 1000 = 705 \text{ kg}$

3.1.5 Trial Mix

After the Mix Design was completed, a trail batch of concrete was made to modify slump, eliminate segregation, and increase strength. The compressive strength of the trial batch was measured after seven days. There were two trail batches created (Control mix and M8 (Maximum Replacement Mix)). The slump cone test was used to determine slump for the experimental batch. The samples were cured for seven days before being put through a compression test to assess compressive strength.

3.1.6 Casting and Curing

We created 16 cylinders (100mm X 200mm) and 1 beam for each blend (100mm X 100mm X 500mm). There were a total of 80 cylinders and 5 beams cast.

The samples for each mix were cast after the mix design and trial mix were completed successfully. Making and curing test specimens were done according to ASTM C192 (Cylinders and Beams). To begin with, all of the materials were batched. The components were then placed in a mixer for dry mixing for 3 minutes. After that, water was added to the dry mix, and the mixer was turned on for three minutes. The tests were carried out on new concrete to establish its qualities. The concrete was then poured into moulds. After drying for 24 hours, the moulds were demolded. Samples were demolded and then cured in a water pond. After 28 days of curing, samples were tested to establish their mechanical and durability properties.

CHAPTER 4: EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

4.1 Fresh Concrete

4.1.1 Workability

Workability of concrete is defined as ease of placement of concrete According to the <u>ASTM C143</u>, this test method is used to determine slump of fresh concrete. The slump cone test was done to determine slump of fresh concrete. The dimension of slump cone mold has height of 300 mm, top diameter 100 mm and base diameter 200 mm. For performing test, placed the mold on rigid, flat, free of vibration surface and level surface. Hold mold firmly in place and by using scoop, poured the concrete in three layers. The volume of each layer is 1/3 of mold volume. Rod the layer 25 times with tamping rod by using gentle hand. Top surface of concrete was strike off by temping rod in screeding and rolling motion. Removed the mold by raising mold in a steady and vertical direction. Measured the slump by taking distance from top of mold to top of displaced surface of concrete.



Figure 4.1 Control Mix Slump



Figure 4.2 Mix Slump

4.1.2 Fresh Concrete Density

ASTM C138 test method is used to determine fresh density of concrete and this standard provide formulas to determine yield, air content and cement content of concrete. For determining fresh concrete unit weight, first of all, measured the volume of mold and then determined the mass of mold. Poured the concrete into mold in 3 direction and each layer rodded 25 times. After pouring, finishing was done by using flat strike-off plate. Measured the weight of mold with concrete. The density is determined by formula given below.

Density: $D = (M_c - M_m)/V_m$

Where M_c is mass of measure with concrete, M_m is mass of measure and V_m of measure. The unit of density is equal to kg/m³.



Figure 4.3 Fresh Concrete Density

4.2 Mechanical Properties

4.2.1 Hardened Concrete Density

According to <u>ASTM C642-13</u>, the density of concrete is determined by dividing the weight of specimen by specimen volume.

 $\rho = M/V$

Where m is mass of specimen and V is volume of specimen.

4.2.2 Compression Test

The compression test is performed according to ASTM C39 and it is performed to determine characteristic compressive strength of concrete. Compressive strength is defined as ability of concrete specimen to resist load before failure. It is very important test because this test gives picture about characteristics of concrete.

UTM machine is used for performing test. The size of specimen, cylinders are 100 mm X 200 mm. From each mix 6 numbers of specimens were tested for compression. For one day , 3 days,7 days , 14 days and 28 days specimens were test with 2 specimens for each mix design. For compression test, the specimens were removed from curing tank after complete curing time. For 24 hours, the specimens were placed in lab for dry in air. Afterward, the specimen were placed between plates of UTM machine. The load was applied on cylindrical specimen. The load was applied in controlled manner so that loading rate was same during whole test. The loading rate, which applied on cylinders specimen was 0.25 MPa/sec.



Figure 4.4 Specimen placement in UTM for Compression Test

4.2.3 Split Tensile Test

According to <u>ASTM C496</u>, split tensile test is performed on concrete cylinder having size of 100 mm X 200 mm to determine split tensile strength of cylinder specimen. Split tensile strength is maximum stress on tension face side. It is determined by splitting of specimen along vertical diameter. For split tensile test, test specimens were removed from curing tank after completing curing period. After 24 hours of removal from curing tank, the specimen was placed in assembly shown in figure. The assembly was placed between plates of UTM machine. The load was applied on the assembly continuously and without shock



Figure 4.5 Universal Testing Machine



Figure 4.6 Assembly for Split Tensile Test

4.2.4 Flexure Test

This test is determined ability of beam to resist the failure in bending. The flexural test is performed on beam (100 X 100 X 500 mm³). This test is performed according to <u>ASTM C78</u> to determine flexural strength of beam. The flexural strength of concrete is also known as modulus of rupture. It is indirect measurement of tensile strength of concrete. UTM machine is used for this test. Third point loading method was used for this test. For test, the lines were drawn as just shown in figure. Placed the beam between plates of UTM machine. The beam was placed on supports (Roller Supports). The steel rod was placed on beam at midpoint and loading was started. Load was applied on rod and transfer to the beam as point load. During testing, it is necessary that loading is applied at uniform rate to the breaking point and load was applied continuous and without shock



Figure 4.7 Flexural test of Beam

4.2.5. Stress-Strain curve and modulous of elasticity of concrete

This test is performed to determined the stress strain behaviour of Control sample and LC3-30, LC3-50, LC3-65 and LC3-80 in UTM machine .After ploting

stress-strain curve modulous of elasticity is calculated by measuring of slope of every curve .After ploting stress-strain curve of control sample and LC3 variations of each sample toughnes index was measured by calculating aread under each curve.

4.2.6. Beams details with materials properties

Four beams were casted one was made from normal ordinary Portland cement concrete & other three beams were made with LC3 concrete (LC3-50,LC3-65,LC3-80) with respect to calcined clay and limestone replacement with ordinary Portland cement.These beams were taken on the base of compressive strength which were already performed during mehanical properties of ordinary portland ement concrete and LC3 Concrete .Beams length was 3.15m with the cross section of 127mm x 203mm.

Reinforcement detail were as top two compression bar was 10mm dia and two bras of bottom tensile reinforcement were having dia 12mm and stirrups dia were 6mm @5"C/C.

5"x8"x 10.5' Long RC Beams

- Total 4 beams were casted.
- 1 simply reinforced concrete beams
- 2 reinforced with same bars & LC3- 50 Concrete
- 3 reinforced with same bars but concrete was LC3-65
- reinforced with same bars but concrete was LC3-80



Figure 4.8 Casting of RCC Beams

Calculation of materials like coarse aggragte, fine aggregate, water, limestone and calcined clay for each beam as shown in below table. Along with concrete material data next table is showing the reinforcement data like reinforcement diameter, steel yielding strength and modulous of elasticity of steel reinforcement.

Depending upon the results discussed, LC3 50 65 and 80 was chosen in ordr to find Structural performance on RCC Beams four point bending test.

Calculation of materials						
Specime n ID	Weigh t of Clay (kg/m 3)	Weigh t of cemen t (kg/m 3)	Weight of fine Agg(kg/m 3)	Weigh t of coarse Agg (kg/m 3)	Amou nt of water (lit/m3)	Weight of Limesto ne (kg/m3)
OPC	0.00	32.01	64.03	96.04	16.01	0.00
LC3-50	10.67	16.01	64.03	95.04	16.01	5.34
LC3-65	7.47	20.8	64.03	96.04	16.01	3.73
LC3-80	4.27	25.61	64.03	95.04	16.01	2.13

Table 4.1 Calculation of materials for RCC Beams

Table 4.2 Reinforcement Details

Bar	Diametre (mm)	Fy(Mpa)	Es (Gpa)
Plain bars	6	393.65	208.400
Туре-А	10	505.77	148.758
Туре-В	12	491.37	185.425



Figure 4.9 Beam test setup (all dimensions are in mm,15mm cover provided to reinforcement)

4.3. Experimental details with test setup

A four point bending test were conducted on each beam in order to check structural flexural performance of each beam and results were also verified through fem analysis as well.

Two roller support were kept on each left and right support having dia 75 mm and one assembly were kept above exactly at the center of beam having distance were apart as loading point were 2 feet. the ultimate beam loadind capacity was 22KN and loading rate was 0.49KN/s upto failure of each beams. A gasket of thicknes 6mm was used to certify the uniform transfer of load from the beam to the support pedestal during a static loading.. Two LVDT's were placed one at exactly at mid span of beam and one were exactly at the loading point of beam in order to find deflection of beam during loading .

Microscope were used to find the cracks pattern, crack width and roller were used to find the crack height and crack spacing on beams during the crack propagation when load were applied.



Figure 4.10 Experimental setup of RCC Beams

Cracks were measured using a microscope and with the help of flashlight to make the crack appear more clear and easier to be measured.

Least count (1 unit) on the microscope represents 0.002mm of length.



Figure 4.11 Microscope to fined out crack width

4.4. FAE ANALYSIS

Finite element analysis were also carried of these beams with the help of CDP (Concrete demage plasticity model) for both compression and as well as tension demage by using abaquas software.

From stress strain data ,elastic modulus, yield stress and with the help of CDP models we calculated the inelastic strain and demage papameter for compression and for tension cracking strain and demage parameter were also meaured by using CDP model as shown in figure.



Figure 4.12 Abaquas modeling sketch

CHAPTER 5: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 Global Warming

Carbon dioxide (CO_2) is a byproduct of a chemical conversion process limestone $(CaCO_3)$ is converted to lime (CaO) to produce clinker, causing global warming.

As of 2018 roughly 4 billion tons of cement was produced annually. This accounts for nearly 8% of total global CO₂ emissions.

5.1.1 Substitute

A percentage of cement clinker should be replaced by some other cementitious material to lower CO₂ emissions for example Fly ash, Silica Fumes, and Slag.

The sources of these SCMs may be compromised in near future. like the world is moving toward renewable energy production so coal power stations are being replaced by environment-friendly processes.

Clay:

Clay, containing the alumina-silicate minerals, represents 74% of the Earth's crust .

There are over thirty types of clay, Major clay include kaolinite, bentonite .

Kaolinite is Clay Mineral, having the chemical formula Al₂Si₂O₅(OH)₄.

5.2 Clay Selection

There are three type of clay in terms of its minearlogical composition first one is kalonitic clay second one is montmorolinite clay and third one is illite clay in order to make LC3 cement we used kaolonitic clay because we had seen thermal decomposition of the different clay type and have decomposition in different ranges. They represent the heat which is absorb by the loss of hydro oxide from the structure which is called dehydrooxidation. Here we had seen different clay types have dehydro oxidation in different temperature. The dehydro oxidation for kaolinite is in 400 to 600 degree c this represents that how much kaolinite is present in a clay.Kaolonitic clay has given us pozzolanic reaction in which portlandite is consumed and converted into CSH gel so more strength were come with in LC3 variations.After calcination this kaolonite converted into metakaoloine.Kaolonitic clay should have kaolonitic content more than 40%

5.2.1 Kaolonite content

To determine the kaolinite content, a basic oven and clay sample was used. The clay was heated at different temperatures of 200C, 400C, 600C and 800C for 1 hour each and weighted to see the loss in mass. The following equation is used to find the kaolinite content

$$wt(\% \ kaolinite) = \frac{wt_{400C} - wt_{600C}}{wt_{200C} - wt_i} \times 7.17 \times 100.$$

Literature states that 40% kaolinite content is required for comparable strength gain and our test procedure gave 79.94% kaolinite content in our sample clay.

Description	Crucible	Crucible	Crucible
	(gms)	(gms)	(gms)
Weight of empty Crucible after heating at 800 C for 1 Hour (wt_i)	51.8897	51.9062	49.2723
Sample weight	10.0017	10.0022	10.0016
Weight of Crucible after heating at 200 C for 1 Hour $(_{wt200 c})$	61.7904	61.8016	59.1731
Weight of Crucible after heating at 400 C for 1 Hour $(_{wt400 c})$	61.7387	61.8016	59.1731
Weight of Crucible after heating at 600 C for 1 Hour $(_{wt600 c})$	60.5961	60.7719	57.9739
Wt% _{kaolinite}	82.74	71.87	83.77
Average Wt% _{kaolinite} = 79.94%			

Table 5.1 Kaolonite determination procedure

5.2.2 Calcination

Most important is the calcination must be high enough to completely remove the waste and hydroxyls from the structure and this create structural disorder which enhances its reactivity but if we go too high then we get decrease in reactivity by the loss of surface and then crystallization so this is what is shown here u can see the dihydroxylation takes place between 500 and 650 then we have this window during which we have moved this product before crystallization but infact we find that if we stop at 600 this does is very optimal terms of reactivity the optimal range is about 700 to 800 and we can understand this if we make more sophisticated analysis with A1 NMR so what Al NMR shows is the local environment around the aluminium ions and particularly the presence of this 5 Al NMR is the one that gives this extra activity now we can see the amount of this by increases between 600 and 800 so we can also see the importance of correct fire window her so her we see in blue the medium diameter of the particles of clay and in the red the surface area.



Figure 5.1 Calcination of clay



Figure 5.2 Limestone output



Figure 5.3 Clay output

This kaolonitic clay and limestone should be purvarazied, grinded and than mutt pass through sieve number #200 so that their particle size should match with the particle size of the ordinary portland cement .more finer will be the particle more reaction would take place during hydriton process.

5.3 Mechanical Properties of Concrete

The mechanical properties of concrete had been calculating using UTM machine.

5.3.1 Compressive Strength

Target compressive strength of concrete (Control Mix) was 27 MPa. We have achieved 26.2 Mpa strength at 28 days after taking average of 2 samples which were tested after 28 days of curing. Compression test for OPC were carried out at 1 day ,3 days , 7 days , 14 days and 28 days respectively . A clear trend of strength development is showing in below table and bar graph where at one day OPC strength was 4.192 MPa , at 3 days strength was 10.48 MPa , at 7 days strength was 17.03 MPa , at 14 days strength was 23.58 MPa and at 28 days strength was 26.2 MPa.

Similarly Compression test for LC^3 -30 were carried out at 1 day ,3 days , 7 days , 14 days and 28 days respectively . A clear trend of strength development is showing in below table and bar graph where at one day LC^3 -30 strength was 3.35 MPa , at 3 days strength was 8.384 MPa , at 7 days strength was 13.624 MPa , at 14 days strength was 18.864 MPa and at 28 days strength was 20.96 MPa.

Similarly Compression test for LC^3 -50 were carried out at 1 day ,3 days , 7 days , 14 days and 28 days respectively . A clear trend of strength development is showing

in below table and bar graph where at one day LC^3 -50 strength was 3.94 MPa , at 3 days strength was 9.8512 MPa , at 7 days strength was 16.0082 MPa , at 14 days strength was 22.1652 MPa and at 28 days strength was 24.628 MPa.

Similarly Compression test for LC^3 -65 were carried out at 1 day ,3 days , 7 days , 14 days and 28 days respectively . A clear trend of strength development is showing in below table and bar graph where at one day LC^3 -65 strength was 3.98 MPa , at 3 days strength was 9.956 MPa , at 7 days strength was 16.1785 MPa , at 14 days strength was 22.401 MPa and at 28 days strength was 24.89 MPa.

Similarly Compression test for LC^3 -80 were carried out at 1 day ,3 days , 7 days , 14 days and 28 days respectively . A clear trend of strength development is showing in below table and bar graph where at one day LC^3 -80 strength was 4.066 MPa , at 3 days strength was 10.1656 MPa , at 7 days strength was 16.51911 MPa , at 14 days strength was 22.8726 MPa and at 28 days strength was 25.414 MPa.

MIX Design	CompStrength at 1 Day	Comp Strength at 3 Days	Comp Strength at 7 Days	Comp Strength at 14 Days	Comp Strength at 28 Days
OPC	4.192	10.48	17.03	23.58	26.2
LC3-					
30	3.35	8.384	13.624	18.864	20.96
LC3-					
50	3.94	9.8512	16.0082	22.1652	24.628
LC3-					
65	3.98	9.956	16.1785	22.401	24.89
LC3-					
80	4.06624	10.1656	16.51911	22.8726	25.414

 Table 5.2 Compressive strength at different days



Figure 5.4 Bar graph of compressive strength at different days

I had performed compression test on cylinders of 4 by 8 inch size LC3-30, LC3-50, LC3-65, LC3-80 along with control OPC samples.

These are the results of 1 day, 3 days, 7 days, 14 days and 28 days testing.

- We can see a clear trend of strength development right from one day to 28 days control sample of normal OPC get the higher strength as compared to others all samples.
- After OPC, LC³-80 get the second higher strength, in which I replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third higher strength, in which I replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth higher strength, in which I replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.

- And lastly LC³-50, LC³-30 get the strength, in which I replaced 70% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These ultimate strength indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the compressive strength nearly equal to OPC, with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.
- Within the LC³ system, the specimen having highest Calcined clay and limestone amount exhibits lowest compressive strength

When comparing with OPC, Clay being more water absorbing material results in less excess water pores hence even at a high water content (0.5) LC^3 yields better results

5.3.2 Split tensile Strength

I had performed split tensile test on cylinders of 4 by 8 inch size LC3-30, LC3-50, LC3-65, LC3-80 along with control OPC samples.

These are the results of 28 days testing.

- At 28 days control sample of normal OPC get the higher strength as compared to others all samples.
- After OPC, LC³-80 get the second higher strength, in which I replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third higher strength, in which I replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth higher strength, in which I replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.

- And lastly LC³-50, LC³-30 get the strength, in which I replaced 70% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These ultimate strength indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement , we can get the compressive strength nearly equal to OPC ,with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.
- Within the LC³ system, the specimen having highest Calcined clay and limestone amount exhibits lowest compressive strength

When comparing with OPC, Clay being more water absorbing material results in less excess water pores hence even at a high water content (0.5) LC^3 yields better results.

Mix Design	Tensile Strength at 28 Days (Mpa)
OPC	2.88
LC3-30	1.75
LC3-50	2.39
LC3-65	2.42
LC3-80	2.66

Table 5.3 Split tensile test results at 28 days



Figure 5.5 Bar graph of split tensile results

5.3.3 Flexural Strength

I had performed Flexural test on beams of 100mm by 200mm into 500mm size LC^{3} -30, LC^{3} -50, LC^{3} -65, LC^{3} -80 along with control OPC samples.

These are the results of 28 days testing.

- At 28 days control sample of normal OPC get the higher strength as compared to others all samples.
- After OPC, LC³-80 get the second higher strength, in which I replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third higher strength, in which I replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth higher strength, in which I replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.

- And lastly LC³-50, LC³-30 get the strength, in which I replaced 70% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These ultimate strength indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the compressive strength nearly equal to OPC, with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.

Within the LC3 system, the specimen having highest Calcined clay and limestone amount exhibits lowest compressive strength

When comparing with OPC, Clay being more water absorbing material results in less excess water pores hence even at a high water content (0.5) LC^3 yields better results.

Mix Design	Flexural Strength at 28 Days
OPC	5.6604
LC3-30	3.6546
LC3-50	4.7556
LC3-65	4.9554
LC3-80	5.0364

 Table 5.4 Flexural strength at 28 days



Figure 5.6 Bar graph of Flexural strengths

- Beams were casted for each formulation and tested at 28 days
- > The flexural strength of LC3 specimen is more than OPC.
- It shows that with addition of calcined clay, the ductility of the mix increases.

Stress-Strain curve

I had performed stress- strain test on cylinders of 4 by 8 inch size LC3-30, LC3-

50, LC3-65, LC3-80 along with control OPC samples.

These are the results of 28 days testing.

At 28 days control sample of normal OPC get the higher strength as compared to others all samples.

- After OPC, LC³-80 get the second higher strength, in which I replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third higher strength, in which I replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth higher strength, in which I replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- And lastly LC³-50, LC³-30 get the strength, in which I replaced 70% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These ultimate strength indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the compressive strength nearly equal to OPC, with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.
- Within the LC3 system, the specimen having highest Calcined clay and limestone amount exhibits lowest compressive strength

When comparing with OPC, Clay being more water absorbing material results in less excess water pores hence even at a high water content (0.5) LC3 yields better results.



Figure 5.7 Stress-Strain curves

Stress-Strain curves of LC3 Concerte shows exactly same trend as normal ordinary portland cement concrete.LC3 Concrete is showing ductility and modulus of elasticity at material level testing same as ordinary portland cement concrete. The Stress-Strain of LC3 is comparable to OPC despite reductions in the amount of cement. The addition of calcined clay to the mixture appears to increase its ductilityas well. Replacement in a form of Calcined Clay and Lime stone within LC3 variation's strength is going to be increased as shown in Graph.

5.3.4 Toughness

I had performed stress- strain test on cylinders of 4 by 8 inch size LC3-30, LC3-50, LC3-65, LC3-80 along with control OPC samples. These are the results of 28 days testing and from each curve of stress strain i calculated the area under these curves in order to find the toughness of each samples.

- At 28 days control sample of normal OPC get the higher toughness as compared to others all samples.
- After OPC , LC³-80 get the second higher toughness , in which I replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third higher toughness, in which I replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth higher toughness, in which I replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- And lastly LC³-50, LC³-30 get the toughness, in which I replaced 70% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These ultimate toughness indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the toughness nearly equal to OPC ,with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.
- Within the LC3 system, the specimen having highest Calcined clay and limestone amount exhibits lowest toughness.

When comparing with OPC, Clay being more water absorbing material results in less excess water pores hence even at a high water content (0.5) LC3 yields better results.

Mix ID	Toughness
OPC	124.95
LC3-30	99.95
LC3-50	117.45
LC3-65	118.7
LC3-80	121.2

Table 5.5 Toughness index



Figure 5.8 Bar graph of Toughness index

5.4 Conclusion

PHASE-2

The following result were drawn from the above experimental results

- 1: it was found from the above results that replacement of calcined clay and lime stone (2:1) enhance mechanical performance in OPC.
- 2: From the test outcomes on compressive strength of concrete LC3-80 gives results nearly equal to OPC concrete but replacement of calcined clay and limestone less than or equal to 50% gives results nearly equal to OPC concrete.
- 3: From the test outcomes on split strength of concrete LC3-80 gives results nearly equal to OPC concrete but replacement of calcined clay and limestone less than or equal to 50% gives results nearly equal to OPC concrete.
- 4: From the test outcomes on flexure strength of concrete LC3-80 gives results nearly equal to OPC concrete but replacement of calcined clay and limestone less than or equal to 50% gives results nearly equal to OPC concrete.
- 5: From stress-strain data we can conclude that concrete LC3-80 gives resutls nearly equal to OPC concrete but replacement of calcined clay and limestone less than or equal to 50% gives results nearly equal to OPC concrete.

Depending upon the results discussed, LC3-50, LC3-65 and LC3-80 was chosen in order to find Structural performance on RCC Beams four point bending test.

PHASE-3

The following result were drawn from the above experimental results of beams having four point bending test.

5.5 Results and discussions

Four beams were tested process as already been discussed above using four point bending test results

5.6 Load-Deflection Relationship

When load were applied on beams mid span deflection were measured at the exact centre of beam and simultaneously at the centre of two applied loading point during four point bending test.initially when load were applied all beams were uncracked and stiff when further load is applied first crack appeared approximatly at the centre span of beam as flexure cracks.

Specimen ID	First crack load (KN)	Ultimate load (KN)	First Crack deflection (mm)	Ultimate deflection (mm)
OPC	1.962	19.62	5.04	15
LC3-50	1.52	17.658	5.25	16.96
LC3-65	1.49	18.54	5.22	16.5
LC3-80	1.55	18.83	5.19	16.17

Table 5.6 Structural Failure Mode

5.6.1 OPC Beam

OPC Beam under four point loading test the initial crack was developed at 1.962KN with the initial deflection of 5.04mm at the mid span of beam .The ultimate failure load on OPC beam was 19.62KN with the ultimate mid span deflection of 15mm.Cracks were developed at the centre of beam initially than these cracks propogates in the upper direction of beam and when load were continously increasing

more crack were generated both at the right hand side and left hand side ,these cracks were also propogates during the load increment time.The number of cracks occurs in OPC beam were 17 with average spacing of 12.7cm.

5.6.2 LC³-50

LC3-50 Beam under four point loading test the initial crack was developed at 1.52KN with the initial deflection of 5.24mm at the mid span of beam .The ultimate failure load on LC3-50 beam was 17.65KN with the ultimate mid span deflection of 16.96mm.Cracks were developed at the centre of beam initially than these cracks propogates in the upper direction of beam and when load were continously increasing more crack were generated both at the right hand side and left hand side ,these cracks were also propogates during the load increment time.The number of cracks occurs in LC3-50 beam were 17 with average spacing of 13.175cm.

5.6.3 LC³-65

LC3-65 under four point loading test the initial crack was developed at 1.49KN with the initial deflection of 5.22mm at the mid span of beam .The ultimate failure load on OPC beam was 18.54KN with the ultimate mid span deflection of 16.5mm.Cracks were developed at the centre of beam initially than these cracks propogates in the upper direction of beam and when load were continously increasing more crack were genertated both at the right hand side and left hand side ,these cracks were also propogates during the load increment time.The number of cracks occurs in LC3-65 beam were 18 with average spacing of 13.18cm.

5.6.4 LC³-80

LC3-80 Beam under four point loading test the initial crack was developed at 1.55KN with the initial deflection of 5.19mm at the mid span of beam .The ultimate
failure load on OPC beam was 18.83KN with the ultimate mid span deflection of 16.17mm.Cracks were developed at the centre of beam initially than these cracks propogates in the upper direction of beam and when load were continously increasing more crack were generated both at the right hand side and left hand side ,these cracks were also propogates during the load increment time.The number of cracks occurs in LC3-80 beam were 18 with average spacing of 12.7cm.

5.7 FAE Analysis

The computational data and experimental model showed great agreement as a result of load deflection, as shown in Figure

This means that the static curve experiment of beam agrees great with the curve of beam model up to initial cracking of loads; After that loading, the stiffness of the beam model decreases as compared to the experimental curve, that can be related to the uniform crack propagation in the beam model. However, the beam model becomes stiffer after the 9th damage level towards failure than the experimental beam curve. Maybe lack of incorporation of the bond modelling between concrete and rebar were caused by these variations.

Beam ID	Mid-span Deflection (mm)		Error %	Error %
	Experimental	FEA		
OPC	15	12.68	0.1546667	15.466667
LC3-50	16.96	13.78	0.1875	18.75
LC3-65	16.5	13.44	0.1854545	18.545455
LC3-80	16.17	13.14	0.187384	18.738404

Table 5.7 Comparison of EXP & FAE Deflectons



Figure 5.9 Experimental curves of RCC Beams



Figure 5.10 FEA Curves of all RCC Beams

5.8 Comparison of peak loads

- When we compare peak loads of all beam samples than control sample of beam which is made up of ordinay portland cement shows higher peak load as compared to others samples.
- After OPC, LC³-80 get the second higher prak load, in which i replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third higher peak load, in which i replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth higher peak load, in which i replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.

These ultimate peak loads indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the peak loads nearly equal to OPC ,with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.



Figure 5.11 Comparison of Peak loads

5.9 Comparison of ultimate deflections

- When we compare ultimate deflections of all beam samples than control sample of beam which is made up of ordinay portland cement shows lower deflection as compared to others samples.
- After OPC, LC³-80 get the second lower ultimate deflection, in which i replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third lower ultimate deflection, in which i replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.

- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth lower ultimate deflection, in which i replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These ultimate defections indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the ultimate deflections nearly equal to OPC, with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.



Figure 5.12 Comparison of ultimate deflections

5.10 Comparison of crack width at peak loads

When we compare crack width at peak loads of all beam samples than control sample of beam which is made up of ordinay portland cement shows lower crack width as compared to others samples.

- After OPC, LC³-80 get the second lower crack width at peak loads, in which i replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third lower cracks width at peak loads, in which i replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth lower crack width at peak loads, in which i replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These crack width at peak loads indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the cracks width at peak load nearly equal to OPC, with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.



Figure 5.13 Graph of Crack width at Peak loads

5.11 Results of cracks and spacing

- When we compare results of cracks and spacing of all beam samples than control sample of beam which is made up of ordinay portland cement shows better results as compared to others samples as shown in below table.
- After OPC , LC³-80 shows better results as shown in below table , in which i replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 shows better results as shown in below table, in which i replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-65, LC³-50 shows better results as shown in below table, in which i replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These results indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the results nearly equal to OPC, with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.

Mix id	No of cracks	Ave length of crack	Minimum spacing of crack (cm)	Maximum spacing of crack (cm)	Avg spacing of crack	S min / S avg	S max / S avg
		(cm)	S _{min}	S _{max}	S _{avg}		
OPC	17	9.75	10.16	15.24	12.7	0.8	1.2
LC3- 50	17	12.5	8.10	18.25	13.175	0.61	1.38
LC3- 65	18	11.5	8.25	18.75	13.18	0.62	1.42
LC3- 80	18	11.2	8.89	17.78	13.33	0.66	1.33

Table 5.8 Results of cracks and spacing

5.12 Result of ductility index, stiffness index and modulus of elasticity

- When we ductility index , stiffness index and modulu of elasticity of all beam samples than control sample of beam which is made up of ordinay portland cement shows higher results as compared to others samples as shown in below table.
- After OPC, LC³-80 get the second higher results as shown in below table values, in which I replaced 20% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- After LC³-80, LC³-65 get the third higher results as values are shown below in table, in which I replaced 35% cement with calcined clay and limestone.

- After LC³-65, LC³-50 get the fourth higher results as values are shown below in table, in which I replaced 50% cement with calcined clay and limestone.
- These results indicates that replacement less than or equal to 50% with cement, we can get the all results nearly equal to OPC, with come percentages of less or more than OPC strength.

Mix id **Ductility** Stiffness (KN/mm) **Modulus of Elasticity** index (N/mm2)**(u)** OPC 3.32 1.171 22022 LC3-0.98 3.42 21015 50 LC3-3.54 1.00 21075 65 LC3-3.50 1.036 21098 80

Table 5.9 Result of Ductility index, Stiffness index and modulous of elasticity

5.13 Carbon foot print and energy consumptions

- As ordinary portland cement is producing CO2 in numerous amount and also use lot of energy consumptions for OPC, so in order to reduce carbondioxide and energy consumptions we use SCM's (supplementary cementious material like limestone calcined cement in which we replace cement with calcined clay and limstone.
- As we are replacing cement with calcined clay and limestone so more would be the replacement more would be carbondioxide emission reduced.



Figure 5.14 Percenatage difference of C02 emissions w.r.t cement



Figure 5.15 Percentage difference of energy consumed w.r.t cement

Results in above graph shows that LC3-50 is giving us more percentage difference of CO2 emitted with respect to cement and percentage difference of energy

consumed with respect to cement because in LC^3 -50 we replace larger amount of cement with calcined clay and limestone.

5.14 Conclusions

Beams with replacment 80% 65% and 50% with OPC were given stiffness index, toughness index nearly equal to OPC beam.

Number of cracks ,cracks propogation ,minimum spacing of crack ,maximum spacing of crack were also nearly equal to 100% OPC beam.

Load deflection curve of all beam shows similar behaviour as control beam were showing during experimentally and FEA.

Percenatage difference of CO2 emmision w.r.t OPC and Percentage difference of energy consumed w.r.t OPC comes out to be lower in LC^3 -50 cement.

5.15. Industrial Feasibility and Future

Iinvestment

LC³ binders hold a strong future in cement industry because

- Refurbished cement manufacturing machinery
- Low grade clay abundantly available
- Economical energy saver since
 - clinker manufacturing kiln requires 1450°C, and
 - calcined clay preparation requires 850°C

5.16. Recommendations

1. Comparative study between low- grade and high-grade Clays

- 2. effect of different types of limestones on the blend
- 3. utilization of super plasticizers in LC³ blends
- 4. effect of different w/b ratios on LC³ mix
- 5. durability assessment of different blends of LC

REFERENCES

- [1] P. Markewitz *et al.*, "Carbon capture for CO2 emission reduction in the cement industry in Germany," *Energies*, 2019, doi: 10.3390/en12122432.
- [2] K. Scrivener, F. Martirena, S. Bishnoi, and S. Maity, "Calcined clay limestone cements (LC3)," *Cement and Concrete Research*. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconres.2017.08.017.
- [3] C. A. Hendriks, E. Worrell, D. De Jager, K. Blok, and P. Riemer, "Emission Reduction of Greenhouse Gases from the Cement Industry," *Greenh. gas Control Technol. Conf.*, pp. 1– 11, 2003.
- [4] M. Antoni, J. Rossen, F. Martirena, and K. Scrivener, "Cement substitution by a combination of metakaolin and limestone," *Cem. Concr. Res.*, vol. 42, no. 12, pp. 1579– 1589, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconres.2012.09.006.
- [5] C. He, B. Osbaeck, and E. Makovicky, "Pozzolanic reactions of six principal clay minerals: Activation, reactivity assessments and technological effects," *Cem. Concr. Res.*, 1995, doi: 10.1016/0008-8846(95)00165-4.
- [6] D. Thesis, "Pozzolanic activity of natural clay minerals with respect to environmental geotechnics," 2005.
- [7] B. B. Sabir, S. Wild, and J. Bai, "Metakaolin and calcined clays as pozzolans for concrete : a review," vol. 23, 2001.
- [8] N. Nair, K. Mohammed Haneefa, M. Santhanam, and R. Gettu, "A study on fresh properties of limestone calcined clay blended cementitious systems," *Constr. Build. Mater.*, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2020.119326.
- [9] S. Tsivilis, G. Batis, E. Chaniotakis, G. Grigoriadis, and D. Theodossis, "Properties and behavior of limestone cement concrete and mortar," *Cem. Concr. Res.*, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0008-8846(00)00372-0.
- [10] V. G. Haach, G. Vasconcelos, and P. B. Loureno, "Influence of aggregates grading and water/cement ratio in workability and hardened properties of mortars," *Constr. Build. Mater.*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 2980–2987, Jun. 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2010.11.011.
- [11] K. Hanpongpun Wilasineeand Scrivener, "The Effect of Curing Temperature on the Properties of Limestone Calcined Clay Cement (LC3)," in *Calcined Clays for Sustainable Concrete*, 2020, pp. 293–298.
- [12] K. Scrivener *et al.*, "Impacting factors and properties of limestone calcined clay cements (LC 3)," *Green Mater.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 3–14, 2019, doi: 10.1680/jgrma.18.00029.
- [13] F. Cassagnabère, P. Diederich, M. Mouret, G. Escadeillas, and M. Lachemi, "Impact of metakaolin characteristics on the rheological properties of mortar in the fresh state," *Cem.*

Concr. Compos., 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2012.12.001.

- [14] M. L. Nehdi, "Clay in cement-based materials: Critical overview of state-of-the-art," *Construction and Building Materials*. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2013.10.059.
- [15] F. Cassagnabère, P. Diederich, M. Mouret, G. Escadeillas, and M. Lachemi, "Impact of metakaolin characteristics on the rheological properties of mortar in the fresh state," *Cem. Concr. Compos.*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 95–107, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2012.12.001.
- [16] T. R. Muzenda, P. Hou, S. Kawashima, T. Sui, and X. Cheng, "The role of limestone and calcined clay on the rheological properties of LC3," *Cem. Concr. Compos.*, vol. 107, no. May 2019, p. 103516, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2020.103516.
- [17] J. Lavanya and V. R. Rao, "Mechanical and Durability Properties of Limestone Calcined Clay Cement (Lc 3)," no. 6, pp. 359–365, 2019.
- [18] L. Qinfei, W. Han, H. Pengkun, C. Heng, W. Yang, and C. Xin, "The microstructure and mechanical properties of cementitious materials comprised of limestone, calcined clay and clinker," *Ceram. - Silikaty*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 356–364, 2019, doi: 10.13168/cs.2019.0031.
- [19] S. Krishnan, A. C. Emmanuel, and S. Bishnoi, "Hydration and phase assemblage of ternary cements with calcined clay and limestone," *Constr. Build. Mater.*, vol. 222, pp. 64–72, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2019.06.123.
- [20] F. Avet and K. Scrivener, "Hydration study of limestone calcined clay cement (LC3) using various grades of calcined kaolinitic clays," in *RILEM Bookseries*, 2018, vol. 16, pp. 35– 40, doi: 10.1007/978-94-024-1207-9_6.
- [21] Y. Dhandapani, T. Sakthivel, M. Santhanam, R. Gettu, and R. G. Pillai, "Mechanical properties and durability performance of concretes with Limestone Calcined Clay Cement (LC3)," *Cem. Concr. Res.*, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconres.2018.02.005.
- [22] M. Frías and J. Cabrera, "Pore size distribution and degree of hydration of metakaolincement pastes," *Cem. Concr. Res.*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 561–569, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0008-8846(00)00203-9.
- [23] Y. Dhandapani and M. Santhanam, "Assessment of pore structure evolution in the limestone calcined clay cementitious system and its implications for performance," *Cem. Concr. Compos.*, vol. 84, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2017.08.012.
- [24] C. S. Poon, L. Lam, S. C. Kou, Y. L. Wong, and R. Wong, "Rate of pozzolanic reaction of metakaolin in high-performance cement pastes," *Cem. Concr. Res.*, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 1301– 1306, 2001, doi: 10.1016/S0008-8846(01)00581-6.
- [25] M. Frías and J. Cabrera, "Pore size distribution and degree of hydration of metakaolincement pastes," Cem. Concr. Res., vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 561–569, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0008-8846(00)00203-9.
- [26] Y. Dhandapani and M. Santhanam, "Assessment of pore structure evolution in the limestone

calcined clay cementitious system and its implications for performance," Cem. Concr. Compos., vol. 84, pp. 36–47, Nov. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2017.08.012.

- [27] N. Bhanumathidas, "Dual role of gypsum: Set retarder and strength accelerator Promotion of total fly ash utilisation in India View project Durability Enhancement with Complementary Cement Materials (CCMs) View project." [Online]. Available: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/287679112.
- [28] F. Cassagnabère, P. Diederich, M. Mouret, G. Escadeillas, and M. Lachemi,

"Impact of metakaolin characteristics on the rheological properties of mortar in

the fresh state," Cem. Concr. Compos., 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2012.12.001.

- [29] G. Batis, P. Pantazopoulou, S. Tsivilis, and E. Badogiannis, "The effect of metakaolin on the corrosion behavior of cement mortars," Cem. Concr. Compos., 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconcomp.2004.02.041.
- [30] H. Paiva, A. Velosa, P. Cachim, and V. M. Ferreira, "Effect of metakaolin dispersion on the fresh and hardened state properties of concrete," Cem. Concr. Res., 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconres.2012.01.005.
- [31] S. Ng and J. Plank, "Interaction mechanisms between Na montmorillonite clay and MPEGbased polycarboxylate superplasticizers," Cem. Concr. Res., 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconres.2012.03.005.
- [32] B. H. Zaribaf, B. Uzal, and K. Kurtis, "Compatibility of superplasticizers with limestonemetakaolin blended cementitious system," RILEM Bookseries, 2015, doi: 10.1007/978-94-017-9939-3_53.
- [33] F. Nazário Santos, S. Raquel Gomes de Sousa, A. José Faria Bombard, and S. Lopes Vieira, "Rheological study of cement paste with metakaolin and/or limestone filler using Mixture Design of Experiments," Constr. Build. Mater., 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2017.03.001.
- [34] B. G. Kim, S. Jiang, C. Jolicoeur, and P. C. Aïtcin, "Adsorption behavior of PNS superplasticizer and its relation to fluidity of cement paste," Cem. Concr. Res., 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0008-8846(00)00256-8.
- [35] M. Collepardi, "Admixtures used to enhance placing characteristics of concrete," Cem. Concr. Compos., 1998, doi: 10.1016/s0958-9465(98)00071-7.
- [36] L. Lei and J. Plank, "Synthesis and properties of a vinyl ether-based polycarboxylate superplasticizer for concrete possessing clay tolerance," Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 2014, doi: 10.1021/ie4035913.
- [37] G. Giaccio and R. Zerbino, "Optimum superplasticiser dosage for systems with different cementitious materials," Indian Concr. J., 2002.
- [38] K. H. Yang, Y. B. Jung, M. S. Cho, and S. H. Tae, "Effect of supplementary cementitious

materials on reduction of CO2 emissions from concrete," J. Clean. Prod., vol. 103, pp. 774–783, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.03.018.

- [39] S. Ferreiro, M. M. C. Canut, J. Lund, and D. Herfort, "Influence of fineness of raw clay and calcination temperature on the performance of calcined clay- limestone blended cements," Appl. Clay Sci., vol. 169, pp. 81–90, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.clay.2018.12.021.
- [40] A. K. H. Kwan and C. F. Mora, "Effects of various, shape parameters on packing of aggregate particles," Mag. Concr. Res., vol. 53, no. 2, 2001, doi: 10.1680/macr.2001.53.2.91.
- [41] K. Scrivener, F. Martirena, S. Bishnoi, and S. Maity, "Calcined clay limestone cements (LC3)," Cem. Concr. Res., vol. 114, no. November 2017, pp. 49–56, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconres.2017.08.017.
- [42] P. Ptáček, F. Frajkorová, F. Šoukal, and T. Opravil, "Kinetics and mechanism of three stages of thermal transformation of kaolinite to metakaolinite," Powder Technol., vol. 264, pp. 439–445, Sep. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.powtec.2014.05.047.
- [43] D. N. Huntzinger and T. D. Eatmon, "A life-cycle assessment of Portland cement manufacturing: comparing the traditional process with alternative technologies," J. Clean. Prod., vol. 17, no. 7, pp. 668–675, May 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2008.04.007.
- [44] B. S. Koelbl, M. A. van den Broek, B. J. van Ruijven, A. P. C. Faaij, and D. P. van Vuuren, "Uncertainty in the deployment of Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS): A sensitivity analysis to techno-economic parameter uncertainty," Int. J. Greenh. Gas Control, vol. 27, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ijggc.2014.04.024.
- [45] N. MAHASENAN, S. SMITH, and K. HUMPHREYS, "The Cement Industry and Global Climate ChangeCurrent and Potential Future Cement Industry CO2 Emissions," in Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies - 6th International Conference, 2003.
- [46] L. M. Vizcaíno-Andrés, S. Sánchez-Berriel, S. Damas-Carrera, A. Pérez-Hernández, K. L. Scrivener, and J. F. Martirena-Hernández, "Industrial trial to produce a low clinker, low carbon cement," Mater. Constr., vol. 65, no. 317, 2015, doi: 10.3989/mc.2015.00614.
- [47] Y. Cancio Díaz et al., "Limestone calcined clay cement as a low-carbon solution to meet expanding cement demand in emerging economies," Dev.

Eng., 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.deveng.2017.06.001.

[48] Munfarijah Siti Isma, "Development of State of the Art-Techniques in Cement Manufacturing : Trying to Look Ahead (CSI / ECRA-Technology Papers) Final Draft 31 March 2009," i, no. tecnology, 2019.

- [49] E. Batuecas, F. Liendo, T. Tommasi, S. Bensaid, F. A. Deorsola, and D. Fino, "Recycling CO2from flue gas for CaCO3nanoparticles production as cement filler: A Life Cycle Assessment," J. CO2 Util., vol. 45, p. 101446, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.jcou.2021.101446.
- [50] F. Georget, W. Wilson, and K. L. Scrivener, "edxia: Microstructure characterisation from quantified SEM-EDS hypermaps," Cem. Concr. Res., vol. 141, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.cemconres.2020.106327